2009

# Michael C. Posner v. Equity Title Insurance Agency, Inc. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## **STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION**

The Utah Supreme Court has original jurisdiction under U.C.A. §78A-3-102(3)(j); the Supreme Court transferred this case to the Utah Court of Appeals pursuant to U.C.A. §78A-3-102(4).

## **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW<sup>1</sup>**

### **I. Dismissal of Equity Title**

**Issue # 1: Did the trial court err in finding that the plaintiff's real estate agent, Kandis Christoffersen, acted within her authority?**

**Preservation of Issue:** Plaintiff Posner disputed several facts regarding exactly what happened at Posner's closing [R. 463-465]<sup>2</sup>. These disputed facts were material to Equity's argument that its title agent Helen Smith relied on Christoffersen's authority in closing his sale and to Posner's negligence and fiduciary breach claims, therefore dismissal was inappropriate. [R. 478]. Posner also argued that as a matter of law, the facts did not support a finding that his real estate agent Kandis Christoffersen acted within her authority. [R.465-474, 478].

**Issue # 2: Did the trial court err in concluding that defendant Equity Title Insurance Agency, Inc. met its fiduciary duties to plaintiff?**

**Preservation of Issue:** Counsel for Posner argued that Equity Title breached its fiduciary obligations to Posner when its agent failed to close his sale according to his escrow instructions. [ R. 474, 478] [5/16/05: Tr. pg.26-27].

### **II. Dismissal of Coldwell Banker Residential Brokerage**

**Issue # 3: Did the trial court err in striking Plaintiff's expert report?**

---

<sup>1</sup> To avoid repetition, the applicable standards of review are discussed separately.

<sup>2</sup> References to the trial court record appear as [R. \_\_\_\_]. References to transcripts of oral arguments before Judge Medley identify the oral argument date and transcript page number, appearing as [Date: Tr. \_\_\_\_].

Preservation of Issue: Counsel for Posner argued that the sanction for striking Plaintiff's expert witness under the circumstances surrounding the late designation was an abuse of discretion. [R. 1610-1617] [05/12/08: Tr. pg. 24-35, 51].

Issue # 4: Did the trial court err in dismissing plaintiff's case for lack of expert testimony?

Preservation of Issue: Counsel for Posner argued that both statute and case law provided sufficient legal guidance to explain the standard of care and that an expert was not legally necessary in this case [R. 1786-1791], and that Posner's closing was not so intrinsically complex that it needed expert testimony. [11/10/08: Tr. 43-46].

Issue #5: Did the trial court err in awarding attorney fees to Defendant Coldwell Banker

Preservation of Issue: Plaintiff Posner argued that the determinative law in the case was tort law, and that defendant Coldwell was not entitled to attorney fees under the Listing Agreement because Posner did not sue for breach of that contract. [R.1783-1825] [11/10/08: Tr. pg. 41-54].

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The standard of review for the trial court's findings of law on the following issues 1) whether Equity Title breached its fiduciary duty to Posner, 2) whether Kandis Christoffersen acted within her authority, 3) the dismissal of Coldwell Banker and 4) the award to Coldwell of attorney's fees, is correctness. When reviewing a summary judgment ruling, the Appellate Court should give no deference to the lower court's legal conclusions and should review the legal issues presented under a correctness standard. Schaerrer v. Stewart's Plaza Pharm., Inc., 79 P.3d 922, 927 (Utah 2003). Affirmation only proper when there is no genuine dispute as to material issues of fact and

the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Wycalis v. Guardian Title of Utah, 780 P. 2d 821, 824 (Utah Ct. App. 1989).

The standard of review for the trial court's imposition of sanctions (striking Posner's expert testimony) is abuse of discretion. See Featherstone v. Schaerrer, 34 P.3d 194 (UT 2001); Tuck v. Godfrey, 981 P.2d 407 (Utah Ct. App. 1999).

### **DETERMINATIVE LAW**

Kilpatrick v. Bullough Abatement, Inc., 199 P.3d 957, 967 (Utah 2008).

"Our review of a district court's imposition of sanctions follows a two-step process. First, we ensure that the district court has made a factual finding that the party's behavior merits sanctions. Second, once the factual finding has been made, we will only disturb the sanction if "abuse of discretion [is] *clearly* shown." An abuse of discretion may be demonstrated by showing the district court relied on "an erroneous conclusion of law" or that there was "no evidentiary basis for the trial court's ruling."

#### **U.A.C.A. R162-6-1. Licensee Conduct.**

6.1.11.1. A principal broker and licensees acting on his behalf who represent a seller shall have a written agency agreement with the seller defining the scope of the agency.

#### **U.A.C.A. R162-6-2. Standards of Practice.**

6.2.15.1. Duties of a seller's or lessor's agent. A principal broker and licensees acting on his behalf who act solely on behalf of the seller or the lessor owe the seller or the lessor the following fiduciary duties:

(a) Loyalty, which obligates the agent to act in the best interest of the seller or the lessor instead of all other interests, including the agent's own;

(b) Obedience, which obligates the agent to obey all lawful instructions from the seller or lessor;

(c) Full disclosure, which obligates the agent to tell the seller or lessor all material information which the agent learns about the buyer or lessee or about the transaction;

(d) [Omitted]

(e) Reasonable care and diligence;

(f) Holding safe and accounting for all money or property entrusted to the agent;  
and

(g) Any additional duties

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This matter arose out of the sale of a piece of real property in Park City, Utah, belonging to the Plaintiff Dr. Michael Posner (hereinafter “Posner”), a retire veterinarian residing in Florida. Mr. Posner commenced his action on January 31, 2004, in Third District Court in Salt Lake City, when he filed a suit against Equity Title Insurance Agency, Inc. (hereinafter “Equity”) and Independence Title Insurance Agency (hereinafter “Independence”) [R. 1-23]. Mr. Posner claimed breached of fiduciary duty, negligence and breach of contract against the defendants, alleging that the defendants violated the terms of Posner’s Real Estate Purchase Contract (hereinafter “REPC”) when they closed his sale without the surety bond his REPC expressly required as a necessary condition of the sale [R. 7-10].

On February 9, 2004, Independence filed a Motion and Memorandum to dismiss [R. 24-26, R. 27-32, which the trial court denied May 10, 2004 [R. 75]. On March 3, 2004, Equity filed its Answer to plaintiff’s Complaint [R.56-66]. On December 22, 2005, based on the discovery that his real estate agent, Kandis Christoffersen (hereinafter “Christoffersen”), had told Posner’s Equity title agent, Helen Smith (hereinafter “Smith”), to close his sale, Posner moved to amend his complaint to add NRT, Inc., a New Jersey corporation doing business in Utah as Coldwell Banker Residential Brokerage (hereinafter “Coldwell”) [R. 119-120]. The trial court granted permission to amend on February 7, 2005 [R.165], and on March 28, Posner filed a First Amended Complaint, adding Coldwell as a third defendant and dropping the breach of contract claims against Equity and Independence [R. 323-336].

On March 28 and 29 respectively, Equity and Independence filed Summary Judgment Motions and Memoranda [R.258-322; R. 337-418]. Posner filed his Memorandum Opposing Summary Judgment on April 14 [R. 455-545], and the defendants filed Reply Memoranda in the latter half of April [R. 546-566; R. 594-601]. On May 24, 2005 the Court granted summary judgment to Equity and Independence [R. 623]. Mistakenly believing that this judgment against Equity and Independence was final for the purposes of appeal, counsel for Mr. Posner filed a notice of appeal against Equity's dismissal on June 2, 2005 [R. 628-630]. At this time, Posner and Coldwell Banker jointly requested, and were granted, a stay of proceedings pending the outcome of the appeal [R. 635-637, R. 641].

Mr. Posner, Equity and Coldwell participated unsuccessfully in a mediation conducted by the Court of Appeals in the fall of 2005. In spring of '06, the Court of Appeals dismissed Mr. Posner's appeal without prejudice on the grounds that there had not been a final ruling in the case.

Discovery between Mr. Posner and Coldwell commenced in the summer of 2006, pursuant to a May '06 scheduling order. [R. 648-652]. Recognizing they needed additional time to complete discovery, Posner and Coldwell amended their scheduling order in early September. [R.872-874]. In October '06, Judge Medley ordered the parties to mediate by January 7, 2007 [R. 875, 878]. Mediation occurred on December 11 and was unsuccessful. At the end of the mediation session, Coldwell filed a motion for summary judgment [R.883-885, 886-902], which was denied in April '07. [R. 1486-1488]. In the fall of '07, counsel for Posner, Michael Goldsmith, withdrew from representation for health reasons, and Posner hired Mr. David Ross to replace him. [R.

1520-21]. In November '07, the Court filed an Order to Show Cause. [R.1515-1518]. At the January hearing on that Order, Mr. Ross indicated that Posner was ready to file his certificate of readiness for trial, and on February 8, 08, filed the certificate of readiness and request for scheduling conference. [R. 1525-1526].

The parties began preparations for trial. In March of '08, Coldwell filed a Motion in Limine to Strike Plaintiff's Expert Witness Report [R.1530-1558], and a Motion to Strike Documents and Testimony Produced by the Plaintiff After the Expiration of Fact Discovery [R.1559-1561]. Judge Medley granted both of Coldwell's motions.[R.1695-1699]. Thereafter, Coldwell submitted a second Motion for Summary Judgment [R.1744-1754, 1755-1757], while Mr. Posner filed a cross motion requesting that both parties be given time to designate experts [R. 1758-1760]. In November '08, Judge Medley granted Coldwell's Second Motion for Summary Judgment, denied Posner's Motion to Designate Experts, dismissed Mr. Posner's case with prejudice, and awarded attorney's fees to Coldwell Banker. [R.1842-1847]. Mr. Posner filed an appeal from the District Court's final Order on January 6, 2009. [R.1910-1912].

#### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS RELEVANT TO THE ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- 1) In the summer of 2002, Michael Posner retained Coldwell Banker Residential Brokerage to list two lots he owned in Deer Valley. [R. 274]. Posner's Coldwell real estate agent was Kandis Christoffersen. [R. 273].
- 2) In July, Posner negotiated a sale of his land for a purchase price of \$450,000 (R.287), agreeing to provide \$260,000 in seller financing. (See Addendum Index, Exhibit A: Real Estate Purchase Contract) To ensure he would receive payment in full, Posner inserted a condition in his Real Estate Purchase Contract (REPC) that

- 3) required Chris Strachan (hereinafter “the buyer”) to supply a surety bond in the same amount as his seller financing. (Exhibit A: REPC, Addendum No. 4)
- 4) Posner retained Equity Title Insurance Agency, Inc. as his title company [R.16].  
The buyer hired Independence Title Insurance Agency of Salt Lake City as his title company [R.79].
- 5) On or about August 23, Posner signed his closing papers and returned to his residence in Florida [R. 274].
- 6) On or about August 28, the buyer closed with Independence [R. 21]. At closing, the buyer supplied a document entitled “Financial Guarantee” (See Addendum Index, Exhibit B: Financial Guarantee) (hereinafter “the Guarantee”) for \$260,000 and requested that Posner add \$3,900 to the seller financing amount.
- 7) Posner approved the \$3,900 increase to his seller financing from his residence in Florida (Exhibit A: REPC, Addendum No. 9), but was never informed that the buyer had supplied a so-called “Financial Guarantee” for \$260,000 rather than a surety bond for the full amount of the seller financing:\$263,900 [R. 328].
- 8) Equity closed Posner’s sale when Posner’s real estate agent, Christoffersen, instructed Equity escrow agent Helen Smith that Posner had seen and approved the Guarantee and said to close [R. 57-58].
- 9) Strachan never made a payment on the land and defaulted on his loan from a private mortgage company, Mustang Mortgage (hereinafter “Mustang”).
- 10) When Posner learned of Strachan’s default in November of 2002, he attempted to collect on the Financial Guarantee but it proved worthless [R. 329]
- 11) To mitigate his damages, Posner bought back his land in June of 2003 for

- 12) approximately \$120,000 more than he had received at the time of closing [R. 334].
- 13) In October 2, 2006 Judge Medley entered a Scheduling Order that set the deadline for discovery cutoff at October 13, 2006, for filing dispositive motions at November 13, 2006 and the deadline for Plaintiff to designate expert witness at 60 days after discovery cutoff date. [R.872-874].
- 14) October 3, 2006 Court ordered mediation on October 19, 2006. [R. 875-877].
- 15) October 19, 2006 Judge Medley extended deadline for mediation to January 12, 2007. [R.878-879].
- 16) After the October 13, 2006 cutoff date for factual discovery, Coldwell issued a Notice of Deposition of Michael Posner on November 2, 2006. [R.880-882].
- 17) Coldwell deposes Michael Posner on November 20, 2006. [R.1290].
- 18) The parties conducted an unsuccessful mediation on December 8, 2006 [R.1619].
- 19) Coldwell filed its motion and memorandum for summary judgment on December 11, 2006. [R.893-1042].
- 20) Posner's expert witness designation and report was entered by the court on December 26, 2006. [R.1066-1071].
- 21) Posner submitted Notice of Readiness for Trial and Request Pretrial Conference on 02/08/08. [R.1525-1526].
- 22) On 03/13/08 Coldwell filed its motion and memorandum to exclude Posner's expert witness report. [R. 1527-1558].
- 23) On 03/26/08 Posner filed an opposition memorandum to Coldwell's motion to exclude his expert witness. [R.1610-1617].



- 24) On 04/01/08 Coldwell filed its reply memorandum in support of motion to exclude expert witness. [R.1618-1624].
- 25) Minutes of oral argument 05/12/08. [R. 1683].
- 26) Affidavit of Posner's expert witness. [R. 1685-1687].
- 27) On 05/28/08 the court entered to exclude Posner's expert witness. [R.1695-1699].
- 28) On 06/06/08 Coldwell filed its motion and memorandum for summary judgment, based upon theory that Posner could not prove his case without expert testimony as to the standard of care. Coldwell also filed an affidavit for attorney fees. [R.1700-1757].
- 29) On 06/19/08 Posner moved the Court with a motion and memorandum requesting an extension of time to designate an expert witness. [R.1758-1765].
- 30) After all filings for summary judgment and the motion to extend time were submitted, the Court conducted a hearing for oral argument on 11/10/08. [R. 1833-1834].
- 31) Court on 12/08/08 denied Posner's motion for an extension of time to designate expert witness and granted Coldwell's motion for summary judgment and for attorney fees. [R. 1842-1851].

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS**

This appeal asks the Court to review several matters of law and one issue involving judicial discretion, all arising from the Summary Judgment dismissals of Equity and Coldwell, and the award of attorney fees to Coldwell Banker. Although Posner's case against each defendant arises out of the same basic transaction, the relevant facts and legal issues pertaining to each defendant are presented in two separate sections.

## I. Dismissal of Equity Title

Posner's appeal of Equity's dismissal rests on three arguments, each of which, if correct, provides a sufficient legal basis for reversing the trial court's ruling. First, factual disputes existed between Posner and Equity about exactly what happened at Posner's closing [R. 463-465]; these disputes were material to Posner's negligence and fiduciary breach claims as well as Equity's argument regarding Christoffersen's authority, and therefore dismissal was inappropriate Wycalis v. Guardian Title of Utah, 780 P. 2d 821, 824 (Utah Ct. App. 1989)( Affirmation is only proper when there is no genuine dispute as to material issues of fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law).

Second, the finding that Kandis Christoffersen acted within her actual and/or apparent authority was incorrect as a matter of law, as Equity did not supply documentary evidence that Christoffersen had authority to change the terms of Posner's contract, Utah Admin. Code Rule 162-6-1(6.1.11.1) (1993). Finally, Posner contends that Equity breached its fiduciary obligations to Posner when Smith failed to close his sale according to his escrow instructions, Schoepe v. Zion's First National Bank, 750 F. Supp. 1084, 1088, (D. Utah 1990), ("the scope of the escrow agent's duty is governed by the escrow agreement, and includes, at minimum, an obligation to exercise reasonable skill and ordinary diligence in following the escrow instructions.")

## II. Dismissal of Coldwell Banker

Posner's appeal of the dismissal of Coldwell Banker (with prejudice and an award of attorney fees) rests primarily upon his argument that the trial court abused its discretion in striking Posner's expert testimony. As set forth below, under the determinative standards set forth in the Utah Supreme Court case of Kilpatrick v.

Bullough Abatement, Inc., 199 P.3d 957 (Utah 2008), the district court did not make *any* of the threshold evidentiary findings necessary to sustain the sanction of striking Posner's expert report. If Posner's expert report is reinstated on this basis, then the dismissal of Coldwell Banker must be reversed, as the sole basis of Coldwell's second summary judgment motion to dismiss was Posner's lack of expert testimony.

If this court determines that Judge Medley's decision to strike the expert report was proper, Posner submits that the ruling that expert testimony was required in this case was incorrect as a matter of law. Posner argues that, based upon the ordinary nature of Posner's transaction, the straightforward guidance provided by statute (Utah Admin. Code Ann. Rule 162-6-2) identifying the fiduciary duties of a real estate agent to her principal, and Utah case law (e.g. Reese v. Harper, 329 P. 2d 410, 412 (Utah 1958); Phillips v. JCM Development Corp., 666 P.2d 876, 886 (Utah 1983), the trial court erred when it found that a juror would not be capable of understanding Posner's transactions and correctly applying the relevant law.

In addition to reviewing Coldwell's dismissal, this appeal also seeks a ruling on whether, if Coldwell ultimately prevails in this case, it is entitled to attorney fees under the terms of the Listing Agreement (See Addendum Index, Exhibit C: Listing Agreement). Posner argues that 1) his right as a plaintiff to frame his suit as he sees fit, Smoot v. Lund, 369 P 2d. 933, 935 (Utah 1962); 2) the established principle that a tortious claim may arise out of a contractual relationship (DCR. Incorp. v. Peak Alarm Co. 663 P.2d 433, 435 (Utah 1983); and 3) a reasonable reading of the plain language and purpose of the Listing Agreement (Holladay Duplex Mgmt. Co. v. Howells, 47 P.3d 104 (UT App 2002), are decisive authorities substantiating Posner's argument that the trial

court's decision to award attorney fees was incorrect as a matter of law.

## **ARGUMENTS**

### **I. DISMISSAL OF EQUITY TITLE**

#### **A. EVIDENCE SUPPORTING THE DISTRICT COURT'S DISMISSAL**

In its Motion for Summary Judgment, Equity argued that Helen Smith was *not* liable for “relying on the representations of Posner’s agent, and following her instructions, which were clearly within the scope of her actual and/or apparent authority, and which [were] binding upon Posner.” [R. 263]. This argument rested upon three facts. First, Equity alleged that Posner’s agent “with respect to the transaction” [R. 263] was Kandis Kristofferson. Equity’s evidence [at R. 266] for this agency relationship came from Posner’s Amended Complaint [R. 273], Posner’s Real Estate Purchase Contract [R. R. 287-298], Posner’s deposition [R. 286] and Christoffersen’s deposition [R. 300-301].

Second, Equity alleged that on August 28, 2002, Helen Smith “telecopied” the Guarantee to Kandis, who received and read it [R. 264]. As evidence that the telecopying occurred, Equity cited deposition testimony from Smith’s deposition in which Smith stated that she did not recall whether she had faxed Posner a copy of the Financial Guarantee [R. 313] but said that she had faxed a copy to Christoffersen on August 28 [R. 312], and Christoffersen’s deposition, in which Christoffersen stated that Smith had faxed her a copy of the Guarantee on August 28 [R. 302].

Finally, citing Posner’s Amended Complaint [R. 275-276], Smith’s deposition [R. 314], and Christoffersen’s deposition [R. 306], Equity stated that on August 30, 2002, Christoffersen informed Smith that Posner had approved the Financial Guarantee and to

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