2009

# Michael C. Posner v. Equity Title Insurance Agency, Inc., NRT, Inc., Coldwell Banker Residential Brokerage : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

allowing Posner's late designation would have endorsed and legitimized Posner's persistent refusal to comply with the Amended Scheduling Order and other basic tenets of formal discovery, which Posner had so often ignored. Finally, the trial court struck Posner's expert in order to avoid the unfair prejudice that would have resulted had Posner been allowed to bend the rules yet again.

The trial court's Order included the evidentiary findings upon which it granted Coldwell Banker's motion to exclude Mr. Froerer's report and testimony. The Order made reference to the underlying briefing and dismissed Posner's questionable contention regarding an earlier, albeit late, expert designation. In addition to reviewing the Order and the briefing referenced therein, this Court may look to the lower court record. The record clearly demonstrates that Posner's failure to comply with the Amended Scheduling Order and the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure was willful and that Posner's actions and inactions warranted the sanction meted out by the trial court.

Finally, the trial court properly awarded Coldwell Banker its attorney's fees pursuant to the Listing Agreement. Although Posner's claim for breach of fiduciary duty sounded in tort, the parties' dealings and Posner's claim arose solely from the contract between the parties. But for the Listing Agreement, Posner would have no cause of action for breach of fiduciary duty. Accordingly, this

Court should affirm the trial court's award of attorney's fees and costs to Coldwell Banker.

### **ARGUMENT**

#### **I. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN STRIKING THE REPORT AND TESTIMONY OF POSNER'S EXPERT.**

Sanctions are warranted when “(1) the party's behavior was willful; (2) the party has acted in bad faith; (3) the court can attribute some fault to the party; or (4) the party has engaged in persistent dilatory tactics tending to frustrate the judicial process. (App. Br., p. 30, citing Kilpatrick v. Bullough Abatement, Inc., 199 P.3d 957, 965 (Utah 2008). Posner's failure to comply with the scheduling order in regard to the expert witness designation was willful and fault was properly attributed to Posner.

##### **A. The Sanction Was Warranted As Posner's Failure to Timely Designate His Expert Was Willful.**

The trial court entered an Amended Scheduling Order on or about October 2, 2006. R. 872. Pursuant to the Amended Scheduling Order, Posner was required to designate his expert witnesses and submit all related expert reports no later than December 12, 2006. Despite this clear and unambiguous deadline, Posner failed to timely identify or designate Mr. Froerer.

This matter involved more than a two week late expert designation and must be reviewed in context with the history of the case. By December of 2006, the case

had been pending for nearly two years. Fact discovery was completed by October 13, 2006. Following the expiration of fact discovery, both the trial court and Coldwell Banker reasonably believed that all material facts were discovered and exchanged, and that all potential witnesses had been designated. Believing that all triable issues and facts had been explored and set forth during the course of formal discovery, the trial court ordered the parties to renew their efforts to mediate. Mediation was ordered for a second time. R. 878. The parties mediated this matter for a second time on December 8, 2006. R. 1619. At no time prior to, or during the mediation did Posner reference, allege or represent that he had retained an expert in support of his claims against Coldwell Banker. Thus, Posner's failure to timely designate Mr. Froerer again frustrated the progress of the case and the purpose of the second mediation.

Posner filed an unsigned Rule 26(a)(3) Designation of Gage Froerer and the related Expert Report on December 26, 2006. R. 1066. Posner filed the designation only after the failed mediation and after Coldwell Banker incurred significant costs to prepare and file its comprehensive motion for summary judgment. Posner's designation of Mr. Froerer undisputedly occurred two weeks after the expiration of the expert designation deadline. Prior to his tardy designation, Posner had roughly two years within which to appropriately identify and designate his witnesses. Moreover, through interrogatories as early as July,



2006, Coldwell Banker requested Posner to identify any expert he intended to call as an expert witness. R. 719 and 728. Posner made no mention of any expert in his discovery responses. R. 728.

Before the trial court, Posner argued that the mediation order “effectively interrupted the 2006 [Amended Scheduling] Order.” R. 1612. If Posner believed that the ordered mediation “interrupted” the Amended Scheduling Order, Posner should have addressed the same with the Court and opposing counsel. Prior to the mediation, the trial court judge held a telephone conference with the parties. R. 878. Posner had every opportunity to address the dates contained in the Amended Scheduling Order and how the mediation may have impacted the deadlines set forth therein. However Posner never sought, nor obtained, leave of court to modify the Amended Scheduling Order or the expert designation deadline. Indeed, Posner maintained his silence. Posner made no mention whatsoever of any expert until well after the scheduling conference, the mediation, Coldwell Banker’s summary judgment motion and the expiration of the expert designation deadline.

This Court has made clear that “to support a finding of willfulness, there need only be any intentional failure as distinguished from involuntary compliance. No wrongful intent need be shown.” Aurora Credit Services, Inc. v. Liberty West Development, Inc., 129 P.3d 287, 291 (Utah App. 2006). See also Tuck v. Godfrey, 981 P.2d 407, 411 (Utah App. 1999). As discussed above, Posner’s

failure to file his expert designation was willful as he was fully aware of the Amended Scheduling Order and its expert discovery deadline. Posner wilfully chose not to comply with the Amended Scheduling Order.

Moreover, in referring to the second mediation, Posner indicated in his brief that it did not “make sense to [Posner to] spend money on any steps towards litigation until we see the outcome of this mediation.” (App. Br., p. 31). This statement shows that Posner made the wilful decision to ignore the Amended Scheduling Order and its expert designation deadline. This telling statement in Posner’s brief further supports the trial court’s finding of willfulness.

**B. The Sanction Was Warranted As The Trial Court Properly Attributed Fault To Posner For His Failure to Timely Designate His Expert.**

After Coldwell Banker filed its Motion to Strike the Expert Report, counsel for Posner claimed that she mailed the expert designation to Coldwell Banker on December 14, 2006. (R. 1610). Coldwell Banker received no such letter or expert designation on or near that date. R. 1618. Posner’s counsel offered only an unsigned, one page letter to support her assertion. R. 1617. Posner’s counsel made no reference or production of any certificate of mailing or certificate of service to evidence the designation as there was none. The trial court and Coldwell Banker first received Posner’s expert designation on December 26, 2006, two weeks after the expiration of the expert designation and well after Posner’s counsel claimed to

have mailed the mysterious one-page, unsigned letter. R. 1066. These dubious circumstances beg the question that if Posner had, in fact, timely designated Mr. Froerer on December 14, 2006, why would he wait an additional two weeks to actually file the same properly with the court.

Posner's contention was further suspect as Posner previously designated a different expert in the case, which designation was in compliance with the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. (R. 178). Posner previously designated Joseph A. Beykirch as an expert. Posner's designation of Mr. Beykirch appropriately included a certificate of mailing. It was certainly odd that counsel for Posner would present an unsigned letter as evidence of an expert witness designation in the same case in which she had appropriately made an earlier expert witness designation in compliance with the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

The trial court properly found that there was insufficient evidence to support Posner's contention of a timely or appropriate designation of Mr. Froerer. R. 1695. The judge noted that there was no certificate of service or certificate of mailing which accompanied the expert designation and report. Posner continues the suspect claim today by including a complete misrepresentation of the facts in his brief on appeal. The Brief of Appellant indicates that "Posner's counsel thought she was timely filing the expert witness designation when she served Coldwell Banker on December 14, 2006." (App. Br., p. 31 (emphasis added)). The trial

court's ruling and the Record in this case is absolutely clear that Coldwell Banker was never served with an expert witness designation on December 14, 2006.

The trial court properly attributed fault to Posner for the improper and late designation of Mr. Froerer. Posner was at fault in not designating the expert prior to the ordered cut off date of December 12, 2006. If Posner indeed mailed the letter on December 14, 2006, Posner was at fault for not properly designating the expert in accordance with the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. If Posner indeed mailed the letter on December 14, 2006, Posner was at fault for not filing an expert designation with the trial court until December 26, 2006. More significantly, Posner was at fault for failing to identify and designate his expert prior to the second mediation ordered by the trial court.

Posner was also at fault for failing to supplement his discovery responses to Coldwell Banker and identify Mr. Froerer as a potential expert witness. In July, 2006, Coldwell Banker requested Posner to identify any expert he intended to call as an expert witness. R. 719 and 728. Posner made no mention of any expert in his discovery responses. R. 728. Rule 26(e)(2) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure makes clear that "A party is under a duty seasonably to amend a prior response to an interrogatory . . . if the party learns that the response is in some material respect incomplete or incorrect and if the additional or corrective information has not otherwise been made known to the other parties during the

discovery process or in writing.” URCP 26(e)(2) (2008). According to the Affidavit of Mr. Froerer, Mr. Froerer consulted with Posner in early November, 2006. R. 1685. Thus, Posner had adequate time to appropriately amend his discovery responses and advise Coldwell Banker of the potential expert witness. Posner was clearly at fault in failing to amend his discovery responses and failing to comply with the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, in addition to his failure to comply with the Amended Scheduling Order. Again, we see the practical impact and frustration of the case from Posner’s failure to timely designate his expert.

**C. The Trial Court’s Order Includes the Proper Factual Findings to Merit the Sanction.**

Rather than include the many facts underlying the sanction, the Order incorporates by reference Coldwell Banker’s Memorandum in Support of Motion in Limine to Exclude the Expert Testimony of Gage Froerer (hereinafter “Coldwell Banker’s Memorandum in Support to Exclude Expert”) and the arguments in support set forth therein. R. 1695. The Order indicates “For the reasons set forth in Coldwell Banker’s Memorandum in Support of Motion in Limine to Exclude the Expert Testimony of Gage Froerer, Coldwell Banker has adequately satisfied its burden to demonstrate the prejudice it would suffer were this Court to allow Mr. Froerer’s untimely testimony and report to be introduced at trial.” It is common practice for the trial courts in Utah to incorporate findings into Orders by reference. Smith v. Four Corners Mental Health Center, Inc., 70 P.3d 904, 910 (Utah 2003);

State v. L.A.W., 12 P.3d 80, 84 (Utah 2000); Wilson v. Wilson, 2008 WL 5097703, ¶ 2 (Utah App. 2008), Jackson v. State, 2008 WL 152588, ¶ 1 (Utah App. 2008).

Coldwell Banker's Memorandum in Support to Exclude Expert includes the evidentiary basis warranting the sanction. R. 1530. Posner's willfulness and fault in failing to comply is described therein. Coldwell Banker's Memorandum in Support to Exclude Expert notes that Posner failed to identify any potential expert, through discovery or timely designation, during the two years during which the case was pending. R. 1530.

This Court may also include the trial court's oral ruling on the motion (R. 1914) in its review. Free Motion Fitness, Inc. v. Wells Fargo Bank West, NA, 629 Utah Adv. Rep. 3 (2009). The oral ruling outlines the untimeliness of the designation and notes that the dates for the jury trial had already been scheduled. R. 1914. The oral ruling also incorporates Coldwell Banker's Reply Memorandum in Support of Motion in Limine to Exclude the Expert Testimony of Gage Froerer (hereinafter "Coldwell Banker's Reply Memorandum"). R. 1914. Coldwell Banker's Reply Memorandum addresses the real impact of Posner's late designation which was to frustrate the entire case. R. 1618.

The Order also details the facts surrounding Posner's contention that the expert report was provided on December 14, 2006. R. 1695. The Court notes that

there was insufficient evidence to support the contention which further demonstrates fault on the part of Posner thereby warranting the sanction.

**D. If This Court Finds The Trial Court's Order Lacking, the Record Reveals Sufficient Factual Grounds to Uphold the Sanction.**

This Court recognizes that a lower court's failure to make a specific finding of willfulness, bad faith or fault "is not grounds for reversal if a full understanding of the issues on appeal can nevertheless be determined by the appellate court." Amica Mutual Insurance Co. v. Schettler, 768 P.2d 950, 962 (Utah App. 1989). *See also* Preston & Chambers, P.C. v. Koller, 943 P.2d 260, (Utah App. 1997). As discussed above, the evidence contained in the record in this case demonstrates Posner's willfulness and fault in regard to the expert designation.

The striking of Posner's expert report was not due simply to his two week late designation but rather because of Posner's actions which greatly frustrated the case. Posner had two years to identify and disclose any potential witness. Not only did Posner fail to timely designate an expert, Posner failed to identify any expert in his discovery responses and failed to supplement the same. R. 719 and 728. Believing that the discovery process was complete, the trial judge ordered the parties to mediate the case for a second time before proceeding to trial. R. 878. Posner had numerous opportunities to advise Coldwell Banker and/or the trial judge that he intended to designate an expert witness. Instead, Posner presented

the expert designation after the mediation and after the designation cutoff. R. 1066. Moreover, Posner tried to present an unsigned letter as evidence of an earlier, albeit late, expert designation at the hearing on the matter. R.1913 and 1610. Thus, this Court can fully determine the issue from a review of the record should it find that the trial court failed to include the adequate findings in the Order. Any such failure by the trial court to not make a specific finding of willfulness or fault is not reversible error.

**E. The Sanction Was Just.**

Posner's omission and concealment of any potential expert witness prejudiced Coldwell Banker and frustrated the effective management and litigation of the case. Coldwell Banker reasonably formulated its defense based upon the facts, witnesses and information disclosed during the previous two years of formal discovery. Coldwell Banker relied upon Posner to comply with the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, to seasonably supplement his discovery responses and to provide all material information during fact discovery and during mediation. Instead, Posner ambushed both Coldwell Banker and the trial court with his tardy and surprise expert witness designation filed together with his Memorandum in Opposition to Coldwell Banker's Motion for Summary Judgment.

Posner took absolutely no action in the case for nine months following the denial of Coldwell Banker's first Motion for Summary Judgment. Had Posner



actually taken any action to move his case forward during the year following his untimely expert designation, Coldwell Banker would have then moved to strike the improper expert testimony at that time. However, Posner allowed this case to stagnate for nearly a year, thereby giving e both Coldwell Banker and the trial court the impression that he had abandoned his case. The appearance of Posner's abandonment was so compelling that after nine months of inactivity, the trial court *sua sponte* ordered the parties to show cause as to why the case should not be dismissed for failure to prosecute. R. 1515.

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